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INTRODUCTION


I was born on International Women’s Day, on the morning of 8 March 1983, in the Coombe Hospital in the south inner city of Dublin. Later that day, across the Liffey, four teenagers were sentenced for the killing of Declan Flynn, a 31-year-old man, perceived by his attackers to be gay, who had been beaten to death the previous September. The park is just 3 kilometres away from the courts. Dublin is a small place. The young men arrived in court assuming that the afternoon would end with them in prison, but they were given suspended sentences. In the gay community, a righteous anger was born.


I was born into an Ireland where gay men having sex carried a maximum punishment of life in prison, where gay women were so invisible they weren’t even written into the law, and where upon killing a person in an act of hate, you could get away with murder. There are a lot of dark corners in Irish history, but there are always opportunities for brave people to emerge from the shadows.


This book is about brave people.








‘History needs people to participate in it.’





– Katherine Zappone





‘I think it was Míne Bean Uí Chribín, who was a rather interesting woman but very vehement. And at the end of one of these meetings where we were debating in one of the universities, in Trinity, I think, she said, “Oh, I know all about you and the gay agenda! You’re not going to be satisfied until you have gay marriage!” And I said, “Well, how terribly interesting! What a good suggestion. I must make a note of that. Do you have any other ideas?”’





– David Norris




INTERVIEWEES


DERMOT AHERN: Former Minister for Justice and Law Reform, former Minister for Foreign Affairs, former Minister for Communications, former Minister for Social, Community and Family Affairs, Fianna Fáil TD (1987-2011).


IVANA BACIK: Senator, Deputy Leader of the Irish Senate, barrister, lecturer at Trinity College, Junior Counsel for the KAL case.


MICHAEL BARRON: Head of BeLonGTo Youth Services.


DAN BOYLE: Former Green Party Senator and Deputy Leader.


TIERNAN BRADY: Director of Gay HIV Strategies at GLEN, former Donegal County Councillor (Fianna Fáil).


DECLAN BUCKLEY: Drag artist at Shirley Temple Bar.


JERRY BUTTIMER: Fine Gael TD.


SUZY BYRNE: Blogger, Maman Poulet.


DENISE CHARLTON: Founding member of Marriage Equality, Chief Executive of the Immigrant Council of Ireland, former Director of Women’s Aid.


EOIN COLLINS: Director of Policy Change at GLEN.


STEPHEN COLLINS: Political editor of The Irish Times.


LISA CONNELL: Founding member of LGBT Noise, founding member of Equals.


MATT COOPER: Presenter of The Last Word on Today FM, Sunday Times columnist.


BRENDAN COURTNEY: Television presenter and fashion designer.


MICHAEL CRONIN: Lecturer in NUI Maynooth, former GCN writer.


NIALL CROWLEY: Former head of the Equality Authority.


HAZEL CULLEN: Filmmaker, writer.


LINDA CULLEN: Board member of Marriage Equality, Head of Television and co-owner of COCO TV.


SUSAN DALY: Editor of TheJournal.


FIONA DE LONDRAS: Lawyer, academic.


BORIS DITTRICH: Human rights activist, former leader of the Dutch political party D66, first openly gay member of the Dutch parliament.


DIARMUID DOYLE: Former deputy editor of the Sunday Tribune, producer of Savage Sunday, Today FM.


JEFFREY DUDGEON MBE: Northern Ireland gay rights campaigner, author.


DAVID FARRELL: Political scientist.


BRIAN FINNEGAN: Author, editor of GCN.


CHARLIE FLANAGAN: Minister for Foreign Affairs and Trade.


SARAH FRANCIS: Writer, board member of the GAZE International LGBT Film Festival.


BRODEN GIAMBRONE: Director of Transgender Equality Network Ireland.


MARGARET GILL: Mother of Barbara Gill.


DR ANN LOUISE GILLIGAN: Lecturer, academic, former chair of the National Education Welfare Board, plaintiff in the KAL case.


ROSS GOLDEN BANNON: Board member of Marriage Equality.


JOHN GORMLEY: Former Minister for the Environment and former Green Party leader.


MONINNE GRIFFITH: Co-Director of Marriage Equality.


JOHN HANAFIN: Former Fianna Fáil Senator.


ANNIE HANLON: Founder of LGBT Noise.


GRÁINNE HEALY: Chair and co-founder of Marriage Equality.


NÓIRÍN HEGARTY: Former editor of the Sunday Tribune.


GERARD HOWLIN: Former senior Fianna Fáil advisor, columnist with the Irish Examiner, public affairs consultant.


ANDREW HYLAND: Co-director of Marriage Equality.


SANDRA IRWIN-GOWRAN: Direction of Education Policy, at GLEN.


IZZY KAMIKAZE: LGBT rights campaigner.


MAX KRZYZANOWSKI: LGBT Noise member, former Mr Gay World.


EDMUND LYNCH: Gay historian and filmmaker.


JOHN LYONS: Labour Party TD, Deputy Labour Party Whip.


SENATOR FIACH MAC CONGHAIL: Senator, Director of the Abbey Theatre.


ANNA MCCARTHY: Member of LGBT Noise.


ELOISE MCINERNEY: Founding member of LGBT Noise.


UNA MCKEVITT: Early member of LGBT Noise, theatre-maker.


PHILLY MCMAHON: Theatre-maker.


MARIE MULHOLLAND: Formerly of Equality Authority and ICCL.


AOIBHINN NÍ SHÚILLEABHÁIN: Broadcaster.


DAVID NORRIS: Senator, gay rights campaigner, civil rights activist, first openly gay person elected to public office in Ireland.


EOIN Ó BROIN: Sinn Féin Ard Comhairle member, South Dublin County Councillor.


BREDA O’BRIEN: Iona Institute patron and columnist.


CIARÁN Ó CUINN: Former advisor to Dermot Ahern.


KATHERINE O’DONNELL: Director of the Women’s Studies Centre, UCD.


COLM O’GORMAN: Executive Director of Amnesty International Ireland, Founder of One In Four, former Senator.


CONOR O’MAHONY: Senior lecturer in constitutional and child law, UCC.


BUZZ O’NEILL: PR and event manager, club promoter, member of Sinn Féin.


RORY O’NEILL: Drag artist Panti Bliss.


AVERIL POWER: Fianna Fáil Senator.


CONOR PRENDERGAST: Children of same-sex parents, campaigner.


BERNARDINE QUINN: Project Coordinator, Dundalk Outcomers.


KIERAN ROSE: GLEN board chairperson, former board member of the Equality Authority, Senior Planner with Dublin City Council.


EAMON RYAN: Former Minister for Communications, leader of the Green Party.


BRIAN SHEEHAN: Director of GLEN, former co-chair of the NLGF.


KATHY SHERIDAN: Author, Irish Times journalist.


AILBHE SMYTH: Former chair of the NLGF, board member of Marriage Equality, academic, LGBT rights activist.


MARC SOLOMON: National Campaign Director of Freedom to Marry (USA), former Executive Director of MassEquality, former Marriage Director of Equality California.


WILL ST LEGER: Founding member of Equals, artist.


JILLIAN VAN TURNHOUT: Senator, chair of Early Childhood Ireland, vice-chairperson of the European Movement Ireland, director of the Irish Girl Guides Trust Corporation Ltd.


MURIEL WALLS: Family lawyer, board member of GLEN.


TONIE WALSH: LGBT rights activist, founder of the Irish Queer Archive, former president of the NLGF, founding editor of GCN.


NOEL WHELAN: Political analyst, lawyer, Irish Times columnist.


SENATOR KATHERINE ZAPPONE: Senator, plaintiff in the KAL case, first openly lesbian member of the Oireachtas, member of the Irish Human Rights Commission.




1


THE PAST IS PROLOGUE


‘We were the people who organised the Fairview Park march after the killing, which is the thing that people say was “The Irish Stonewall”. And perhaps it was.’


– Izzy Kamikaze





It was 1982 and the acronym for ‘grotesque, unbelievable, bizarre, unprecedented’ was coined by journalist Conor Cruise O’Brien, and paraphrased by the Taoiseach Charlie Haughey. ‘GUBU’ was the reaction to the astounding events surrounding the double killing by Malcolm MacArthur, which culminated in him being arrested at the Attorney General Patrick Connolly’s house, where he had been staying as a guest. The government was dissolved twice, and there were two general elections. One saw elected Haughey as Taoiseach. Another government was led by Garret FitzGerald. On RTÉ radio, an uninterrupted thirty-hour dramatised performance of Ulysses was broadcast to mark Bloomsday. Hilton Edwards, an icon of the Dublin gay scene who founded the Gate Theatre along with his partner Micheál MacLiammóir, died in November.


In 1982, three separate killings had a profound impact on the gay community. On 21 January 1982, Charles Self, an RTÉ set designer, left a pub on Duke Street and returned to his home in south Dublin. There, he was stabbed to death. He was 33. His killer was never identified. On 8 September, John Roche, 29, was stabbed to death in room twenty-six at the Munster Hotel in Cork. The hotel porter who killed him, Michael O’Connor, 26, said, ‘Your gay days are over’, as he stabbed him. ‘I had to kill him,’ he told Gardaí. ‘He would have ruined my life. He wanted me to become a gay. I said no way, and I killed him.’ The jury found O’Connor not guilty of murder, but guilty of manslaughter. On 9 September that year, Declan Flynn, 31, left a pub in Donnycarney for Fairview Park, a popular cruising spot. The events that unfolded on that night changed Irish history.


On 22 April 1983, a Supreme Court judgement was about to be delivered in a case taken by David Norris against the Attorney General of Ireland. Norris sought to challenge the constitutionality of sections 61 and 62 of the Offences Against the Person Act, 1861, and section 11 of the Criminal Law Amendment Act, 1885. His initial claim to the High Court was rejected. Section 61 dealt with the act of buggery, which was punishable under Irish law by a maximum penalty of life in prison. Section 62 dealt with attempts and assaults for the purpose of committing buggery on a man. That crime held a maximum penalty of two years’ imprisonment. Section 11 related to the public or private commission of or attempts to procure the commission of any man for an act of gross indecency with another man. The maximum penalty was imprisonment for two years. In 1983, David Norris was 38. If he won the case, male homosexuality would be virtually decriminalised in Irish law by removing the criminal charges and penalties for the sexual acts of gay men.





DAVID NORRIS: My objective from the very beginning in the early ’70s was to get equality. I realised that step number one, if we were to make any progress, was to remove the criminal law. So that was the first objective … My view was that you did it in stages. First of all, you couldn’t build civil rights without removing the criminal law.





Chief Justice O’Higgins delivered his judgement, rejecting Norris’ appeal. The second Supreme Court judge, Finlay, agreed with O’Higgins’ judgement. Then the third, Henchy, threw a spanner in the works, and sided with Norris. A fourth judge, Griffin, agreed with the judgement of the Chief Justice. A fifth judge, McCarthy, sided in parts with Henchy. David Norris lost the appeal three judges to two.


Justice Henchy referenced Dudgeon v. United Kingdom, the first European Court of Human Rights case to decide in favour of gay rights, taken by Jeffrey Dudgeon. Dudgeon filed a complaint with the European Commission of Human Rights in 1975. A hearing in 1979 declared his complaint should be heard by the European Court of Human Rights. The court sat in April 1981 before nineteen judges. In October, the court ruled, fifteen votes to four, that the criminalisation of homosexual acts in Northern Ireland was a violation of Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights, with regard to the right to respect for one’s private life without interference by a public authority. Male homosexual sex in Northern Ireland was decriminalised a year later, October 1982.





JEFFREY DUDGEON: Our group, the Northern Ireland Gay Rights Association, was a direct take on the Northern Ireland Civil Rights Association. We capitalised on the mood at the time, particularly coming from America: the civil rights organisations; the black organisations; by ’71, ’72, Stonewall, the beginnings of gay liberation and the emancipation notions that were developed. One thing always led from the other. And obviously in Northern Ireland then, unexpectedly the whole thing descended into war very rapidly from ’69 onwards. That destroyed the early gay scene in a sense. It was put on hold for a number of years. But it gave us the opportunity to think new thoughts.





Outside the Supreme Court where Norris lost his appeal, exactly 3 kilometres away, and eight months previously, Declan Flynn, was on his way to Fairview Park around midnight. That evening, 9 September 1982, he’d been in Belton’s Pub in Donnycarney. Waiting in the park were 17-year-old Colm Donovan from Lower Buckingham Street, 18-year-old Pat Kavanagh from the North Strand, 18-year-old Robert Armstrong from Finglas, and 19-year-old Tony Maher from the Poplar Row flats. They were joined by a 14-year-old boy on his bicycle. For six weeks, they had attacked around twenty men they perceived to be gay in the park. Queer-bashing, they called it. That night, they would do the same. They chased Flynn and beat him to death with sticks. As he lay choking on his own blood, they stole his watch and £4 from his pocket.


Nineteen-eighty-three, it turned out, would be another GUBU year in Irish history. In January, the government confirmed the Gardaí had bugged the phones of journalists and politicians. The racehorse, Shergar, was kidnapped. A referendum on a constitutional amendment on abortion was carried. Over three dozen Provisional IRA prisoners escaped Maze Prison in Antrim. U2 promoted the album War with a huge concert in the Phoenix Park, a place where the previous year, MacArthur killed his first victim, a young nurse.


In the aftermath of the Stonewall riots in New York, gay people and their allies were meeting in Ireland in small numbers. In October 1973, a group of ten men and women – Ruth Ridderick, Mary Dorcey, Margaret McWilliam, Irene Brady, Michael Kerrigan, Gerry McNamara, Hugo McManus, Peter Bradley, David Norris, and Edmund Lynch – met in a room in Trinity College to form the Sexual Liberation Movement.





EDMUND LYNCH: I think the moment for me was the first seminar that was held in Trinity College on a Saturday. It was organised and we were expecting [only] so many, but it was packed out. I had succeeded in getting the Liam Nolan show [The Liam Nolan Hour] to interview the late Margaret McWilliams and Hugo McManus on the Friday, so that was the first time on Radió Éireann. And then convinced Gay Byrne to pay for Rose Robinson, the founder of Parents Enquiry in England, to help parents understand children being gay, to bring her over for The Late Late Show. So he paid for her over and everything else. And she was successful on the show, just an ordinary kind of grandmotherly person, who was interested in her kids being looked after.





In 1975, the Campaign for Homosexual Law Reform began, with Mary McAleese on board as a legal advisor, and succeeded by Mary Robinson. Both women became Irish presidents. The judgement in Norris’ case in April came in between two seminal moments of gathering. In March of 1983, the young men charged with Flynn’s death escaped with suspended sentences, returning to family celebrations at their non-incarceration. The gay and lesbian community and their allies reacted with an unprecedented march on Fairview Park where people showed up in their hundreds. And in June, the first Gay Pride march was held.





IZZY KAMIKAZE: We were the people who organised the Fairview Park march after the killing, which is the thing that people say was ‘the Irish Stonewall’. And perhaps it was.





In 1979, the Hirschfield Centre opened in a rundown area of Dublin. Named after the German physician, sexologist, writer, feminist, and gay and transgender rights advocate who died in 1935, it became the heart of the Irish gay scene. The centre on Found Street was the home of the National Gay Federation, which would later become the National Lesbian and Gay Federation (NLGF), and later still, NXF. The NGF was a membership organisation, funded by the gay community. The Hirschfield became a hub for gay activism, solidarity and socialising. Dublin was a grim place then. Between 1979 and 1986, the unemployment rate would balloon from 7 per cent to 17 per cent. By the end of the ’80s, nearly half a million people had emigrated, a huge number for a country with a then population of around 3.5 million. Amongst the endless stream of emigrants was a large percentage of gays and lesbians, moving to London, New York and San Francisco, where they could live more openly gay lives. Elsewhere in Dublin, some gay bars emerged, covert and small. Bartley Dunne’s, Rice’s, and the ‘gay-friendly’ The Bailey on Duke Street on Saturdays.


Later, Hooray Henry’s on South William Street, and The George on South Great Georges Street would emerge. As dance music hit Ireland, Sides nightclub became a focal point. And later still, the club nights HAM, GAG, and PowderBubble. For lesbians, the nights out were in dingy premises such as upstairs in the Trinity Inn or JJ Smyth’s, before The Salon created a more sophisticated vibe at the Chameleon restaurant near Found Street.





IZZY KAMIKAZE: In those days nobody was calling Temple Bar ‘Temple Bar’; it was just this sort of area between the quays and Dame Street that was going to be redeveloped for a bus station. They realised they were going to run into planning difficulties around it and there wasn’t really the money for the massive redevelopment they wanted, so they started letting them out on caretakers’ agreements to all kinds of fringe groups. The origins of the now much debased Temple Bar area concept lie in that.





EDMUND LYNCH: In my time, people were sneaking around. I was lucky enough that back forty-one years ago I told my mother and father that I was gay – or ‘homosexual’ was the word then – for the simple reason that I couldn’t be honest with myself if I was telling everyone else to be themselves and I wasn’t. My mother and father didn’t understand homosexuality, but they knew one thing: that I was their son.





BILL HUGHES: I came out in 1972. It was coming up on my seventeenth birthday, and I told my parents that I was bisexual, because at the time I was sleeping with girls and with guys. The fact that I was having sex at all was the biggest shock to my parents, but then the fact that I was having it Betty Bothways was really upsetting to my mother. My father was so much older. So in 1972, he would have been mid-60s and he said, ‘I’ll tell you something’, because he had travelled a lot as a young man. He had travelled all over North America. He had hitched, he had worked on trains, worked on boats, he had worked on logging camps. And he ended up having learned how to cook, and he became a really good cook. He ended up working at the Waldorf Astoria on the cold-salad buffet table. That was part of his thing, roasting the meats and preparing the salads. He said to me straight away, ‘I met a lot of guys like that on my travels, and the one thing they had in common was that they were lonely, and I hope you never have to come and tell me that you’re lonely. I would feel sad then that I failed as a dad.’ Not so much in those lovely words, but close to those words. And that was it. There was never any judgement after that.





TONIE WALSH: I’ll take you back to when I first became politically involved. It stemmed from a couple of things. I came out, I finished a relationship with a woman who turned out to be a lesbian – it was like the blind leading the blind – and she went back to France. This was 1979. I was almost 19. I came out in Amsterdam, I just had to deal with it. And then I discovered the Hirschfield Centre which had been open about six months. Within a couple of months I realised I needed to focus my energies and use my loud mouth for something, and also use my – I suppose, my sense of indignant outrage, focus it and challenge it into something tangible, practical.





EDMUND LYNCH: What I first heard about was men would go down the quays, pick up other men in the toilets. I would have heard the pubs that people would go to: Rice’s, and also Bartley Dunne’s, and that sort of thing. And I must admit when I went to one of them I was delighted! You ended up going to private parties. There were always parties or something afterwards. It was a different world. Totally different world. I suppose we knew that there was something different about [Micheál] MacLiammóir and Hilton Edwards, things like that, but we wouldn’t realise there were gay people all over the place.





BILL HUGHES: I went off to college in Birmingham, and I did my coming out there where I was completely anonymous on the wildest gay scene that could ever have been in my imagination. Birmingham in the mid-’70s. Jesus! It was completely crazy. It was the beginning of the disco era, and it was just wild. It was completely promiscuous. It was completely bohemian. It was crazy. And I came out in that and qualified from college and moved back to Ireland in ’79 and found the scene here completely dead, whereas I could go to gay clubs in Birmingham, and go down on the train to London and go to Heaven and go to Bang and go to these clubs and have a drink. And I came back to Dublin and I could only go to the Hirshfield and they only served tea or coffee with cream cakes. And that was it. Because the queens couldn’t be allowed to drink by the cops. I became great friends with Vincent Hanley at the time and he would travel all the time to New York, and subsequently I became his producer on MT-USA and he would say, ‘Oh, we’re in a backwater, darling! We are in such a backwater!’ The only place that struck me where gays could have a drink was on Saturday afternoon in The Bailey, which became gay for Saturday afternoons, or in Bartley Dunne’s, but everybody said, ‘Don’t go in there. It’s dirty aul fellas and the smell of piss, and it’s vile.’ Then there was Rice’s on the Green, ‘Don’t go in there because the aul fellas will offer you money for sex.’ And that was the gay scene, but then all these little clubs started springing up. You could go to the Hirschfield for a fantastic dance and hear the best music ever, or you could go to the South Lotts and that was where there were great underground clubs. They were like New York, and it was bring-your-own-booze, and you could be as wild as you wanted. I’d go to New York working with Vincent over there, and we’d go down to the Village and all the bars, and we’d go to the big clubs. We’d go to The Saint on a Saturday night where a thousand gay men with their tops off would look up at the ceiling because it was a planetarium. Every Saturday night at 1 a.m., a box on the side of the wall would open and an electronic arm would come out, and the biggest star in the world would be standing on that electronic arm and do one song and leave. So I was there for Grace Jones the night she premiered ‘Pull Up to the Bumper’. I was there for Diana Ross when she premiered ‘Chain Reaction’, and Laura Brannigan and ‘Self Control’. And this was camp! This was high! And then they were gone, and then it was, ‘Were you there? Were you in The Saint that night?’ Yes, I was in The Saint that night! And people around me, the drug culture, everybody was doing cocaine. Everybody was having the fun, the fun, the fun. This is all early ’80s stuff. And it was just at the tail end of Studio 54. So I got to stick my toe in that, and then come back to Dublin and have a cream cake and a cup of tea at the Hirshfield! So you know, it was quite ridiculous. Everybody was just like, ‘Jaysus, are we never going to get our act together here? Is nothing ever going to happen in Ireland that’s gay?’





JEFFREY DUDGEON: [The Dublin scene] was bigger and more relaxed. I think people were more mixed in a sense. There were more classes and religions. The Belfast gay scene was fairly Protestant and it was fairly working class, I suppose you could say. I was from a middle-class background. People in Belfast didn’t have places to live. They all lived with their parents. Whereas Dublin was a bigger city, more freedom, students had their own place sometimes. There were more in terms of class; there were middle-class people, people who were well off and had their own houses and that sort of thing. So it was quite relaxed, actually, Dublin. I was there for a couple of years, ’66 to ’68. It was a very relaxed operation for those who were on the scene.





KATHY SHERIDAN: My father was a politician way back in the ’60s and ’70s, and I remember at the time, I think he held the casting vote for a short period in the Dáil, and he held that Fianna Fáil government in the palm of his hand. The saying around Longford-Westmeath was that Joe Sheridan had such clout with that government that if there was a gay couple living in the town, when one of them died he would be able to get the other the widow’s pension. That was a joke that went around, and it was ‘hilarious’ because it was deemed so unlikely. It was almost like the idea of a gay person getting a widow’s pension when somebody died was like we could all fly to Mars or something.





IZZY KAMIKAZE: I’m 51 years old now and I came out when I was 19. The whole scene was very politicised in those days, so I was involved in the National Gay Federation, which it then was, I was involved in Liberation for Irish Lesbians, and I was also involved in the one that I’m proud of, which was the Dublin Lesbian and Gay Collective … In criminalised days when very, very few people were out, the guards turning up at people’s places of work to interview them about a murder in a gay club was pretty serious stuff. So there was an element of protest around that, but basically a selection of various kind of left-wing backgrounds came together and that included Christopher Robson, Bill Foley, Melissa Murray, Ursula Barry, Maura Molloy and her partner, Cathal O’Kerrigan who was Sinn Féin, Mick Quinlan who in those days was Sinn Féin, me who was kind of non-aligned, a woman called Amanda Harvey who has gone on to do a lot of work in the domestic violence movement. A lot of people who went on to do a lot of really good stuff kind of cut their teeth in that.





TONIE WALSH: I spent ten years, all of my twenties, involved either with the Hirschfield Centre or as various official functions in NLGF; general secretary for years and then later on David Norris was the first president. In ’84 I was elected president. The NLGF would have had around 3,500 members around the country at the time. In a way it was like a big sailing ship that was difficult to steer sometimes, compared to smaller agitprop groups and the single-issues campaigns like the Dublin Lesbian and Gay Collective, Cork Lesbian Collective. NLGF was bound by standing orders, elections, accountability, transparency. It wasn’t always perfect, but from the get-go it had to be also running a resource – real estate – it was very important to have all those protocols in place. I then became president and spent five years being president and took the organisation through very turbulent times with where we were addressing things like various elements of the equality conversation.





By the early ’80s the Hirschfield Centre became the focal point of the scene. From there, services and organisations grew, such as Tel-A-Friend, a gay helpline. It also housed the nightclub Flikkers where DJs including Tonie Walsh, Paul Webb and Liam Fitzpatrick cut their teeth.





EDMUND LYNCH: I never saw myself as the front person because David Norris is much more articulate than I am. He had three good things going for him: one, he was articulate; two, he was Church of Ireland, minority religion; and three, both his parents were dead. So he had that sort of freedom. And that was important.





There was also a separate woman’s centre nearby.





IZZY KAMIKAZE: There was a group of feminist women – there was no funding from the State whatsoever for a women’s centre – but a lot of women weren’t working, and they volunteered and kept it going, and the women who were working paid a standing order to pay the rent. The overheads were very low because of this caretaker’s rent. It was the corner of Dame Street and Temple Lane – Nico’s restaurant, the building above – the entrance was on Temple Lane. Nico’s was already there; it must be one of the oldest restaurants in Dublin. That’s where we were. We had four floors there. LIL, which was Liberation for Irish Lesbians, had one room in it. It was a bit ghettoised. It was largely dykes who were running the centre and staffing the centre, but there was always a bit of tension with the straight women that they felt we were putting straight women off coming in, you know? But things like the Women’s Right to Choose campaign – we’re talking about the first abortion amendment here – things like that ran out of that building. It was a bit like Youth Defense and all those things now these days! You know the way they’re all run out of one building? We were like that back in the day! There was a library in there, a bookshop, there was what we called a coffee shop but it was a very amateur-hour kind of operation, but people would take it in turns to go in. Somebody would cook a meal every day. If you were working, you could go in and get your lunch and catch up with other women. It was a very good environment in a sort of activist era. Maybe something like Seomra Spraoi* would be an equivalent now.





In 1987, a fire badly damaged the Hirshfield, closing the centre. Aside from running the centre, the NGF had been publishing magazines; Ireland’s first gay magazine, Identity, from 1982 to 1984, and Out from 1984 to 1988, featuring contributions from Tonie Walsh, Thom ‘The Diceman’ McGinty, Nell McCafferty and Nuala O’Faolain. On 10 February 1988, the first copy of Gay Community News (GCN) was published with Tonie Walsh and Catherine Glendon as the founders.





Another group that emerged was GLEN, the Gay and Lesbian Equality Network founded in 1988 as a voluntary organisation to progress legislative change around equality for gays and lesbians. For most gays and lesbians in Ireland, legislative change in terms of relationship recognition wasn’t even conceivable and most campaigning in the late 1980s and early ’90s was taken up with the HIV and AIDS crisis.





TONIE WALSH: GLEN claim the middle ground in LGBT agitation. When it was set up in ’88, it was a response to a lot of people being individually burnt out, emigration – the campaigning movement had been decimated by AIDS, and there was a real need to focus the energies of all the disparate organisations under an umbrella group and just specifically focus on law change and then beyond law change, but I cannot remember the early days throughout the early ’90s. I really think discussion around marriage equality really only came into play after ’93, much later on. I was partying and clubbing a lot from the mid-’90s onwards, so my recollections are a bit hazy.





BILL HUGHES: Sadly my awareness of the need for couples being acknowledged and for rights and for, in some sense, access was through the AIDS plague. In the ’80s, AIDS swept through Dublin. It didn’t sweep through Dublin to the same extent as it swept through New York and London and San Francisco; however, an awful lot of Irish people were in New York and London and San Francisco, and they died during that period. But for people who had stayed here, and gays who were living in Dublin and living open gay lives, going to the Hirschfield and in relationships, suddenly one would get sick and it was sick with AIDS, so everybody knew then it was the death sentence, because that’s what it was. I started to become aware of the sadness because the families started to move in. People who had come to Dublin and made a career for themselves and had a nice flat, and had nice belongings, and were going on nice holidays, and the family hadn’t wanted anything to do with them. But as soon as they got sick and there was a sense of ‘oh well’; they just moved in and the partners got pushed aside and the partners had no recourse and had no access. And in some cases even the final wishes of the person were not observed because the partner wasn’t able to enforce them, and the family decided for whatever reason if they requested cremation, ‘No, no, no, they’re having the full funeral and their coffin is going to go up the main street of our country town because that’s the way.’ It was at a time like that where I just thought, ‘Jesus, this is messed up, this is fucked up.’ I wasn’t in a relationship at that stage, but I thought if I was in a relationship, I would need to be certain that the law in some way protected me, but then the law couldn’t protect me, because we weren’t decriminalised until 1993. So you were caught in an illegal limbo where: tough shit, you got AIDS; tough shit, you have no recourse to the law; tough shit, your family can do what they want – estranged brothers, estranged sisters, estranged parents who had cast aside people who had come out as gay suddenly were taking control of their assets, their homes, their prized possessions, and they were marching off with them before the body was cold. The partner was left grieving with nothing, sometimes was thrown out of the home that they shared because it wasn’t written down anywhere. There was no contract that could be enforced. So it was around then, the mid-’80s in particular, where I started to realise there is so much unevenness in society, and particularly with regard to gay people and gay relationships that, Jesus, something needs to be done.





CHARLIE FLANAGAN: I can tell you there was one gay guy in Mountmellick when we were growing up and, I mean, the reality was that there was one known gay guy and everything else was swept firmly under the carpet, which was a really sad indictment of society. I know gay people who emigrated, contemporaries of mine who emigrated because they didn’t feel they could survive or they didn’t feel they could embark on any meaningful career or achieve either professional or personal satisfaction living here. I find that actually shameful.





IZZY KAMIKAZE: I was involved in the AIDS helpline back in the late ’80s and then Dublin AIDS Alliance. In those days, the Dublin AIDS Alliance ran on a FÁS* scheme, pretty much. But it was big. There might have been twenty people on the FÁS scheme, and there might have been another twenty or thirty volunteers who worked pretty much daily, because there was a huge unemployed pool of activists at that time. The AIDS crisis was unfolding very immediately and urgently around us and there were no services really. Nothing. So it was up to volunteer efforts to pull together whatever they did. We had two flag days a year, which is basically what that was funded from: Irish AIDS Day and World AIDS Day. We went out and shook buckets on the street.





BUZZ O’NEILL: What got a lot of people agitated was late ’80s, ’90s, the HIV epidemic. That’s where gay men particularly felt completely isolated legally. So I would have had a lot of friends, a lot of casualties lost along the way. It was always horrible. You’re hearing all the stories of them pretending to be his brother, if the family were cool with it, saying to a nurse, ‘Yeah, this is his brother’, so he could get into the hospital to someone dying in a bed. So I suppose that’s where it was kind of at the time in the ’90s two strata: gay men dying of AIDS wanting legal recognition and a lot of lesbians that were secretly bringing up children.





IZZY KAMIKAZE: The Hirshfield Centre burnt down. That was the end of the NGF as anything meaningful in my view, because the centre wasn’t there anymore. I mean, they continued to publish GCN and so on, but as a membership organisation it was finished. It used to have 2,000 members back in the day, but that evaporated when there was no facility for members to use and by that time there had started to be a bit of a commercial gay scene so they didn’t have the monopoly that they once had anyway. So that more or less died. The women’s centre had closed down. Basically Temple Bar was getting redeveloped and a lot of people got diverted into the AIDS crisis, which was obviously the next big thing that came along.





GCN continued to publish, and for many LGBT people, it became a touchstone.





JERRY BUTTIMER: GCN was probably the one periodical, the one paper that I remember in Cork, once the co-op store in O’Sullivans came together. And, you know, you bundled it under your jacket and you brought it home.





The Declan Flynn protest in Fairview Park in 1983 is frequently cited as the birth of LGBT protest in Ireland, but there were others before that.





TONIE WALSH: ‘Gay rights are human rights, gay rights are your rights.’ That was even on Pride banners at the time that was used. Walking down Grafton Street on Dublin’s first Pride with that banner leading the parade: gay rights are your rights … Well, obviously it was addressing us, the LGBT community, and reminding us that gay rights are human rights – part of a wider discourse that was also being addressed by ICCL, by Amnesty International or whatever, the Women’s Council … I’m talking about the early ’80s – politically it was a horrible time to be lesbian or gay in Ireland, and of course transgender people didn’t even get a look-in. It was a horrible time. Paradoxically, creatively it was really interesting. The very oppressive nature of Irish society actually acted in a paradoxical way; it gave us something to push against. There’s something enormously liberating about being a sexual outlaw. You’re not defined by any rules. There are no rules. You’re outside the pale. So in fact, the whole world is there to create. How we imagine a new world is there for the taking as far as I’m concerned – and that seemed to me quite clear in my mind. Now how you articulated the need for change to get to that – attain to that new world – was something else. And that was also of course quite an engaging process. But I do remember making a very conscious decision. I looked around me and I thought, I don’t see many voices, LGBT voices, that represented my political and cultural and social sensibility. There were very few. You had David Norris. And I’m not being ungenerous, but in a sense [he] was hogging the limelight, for good or bad reasons. He was a big person, but he was fifteen years older than me. To me, somebody in their twenties, he was just some old guy, even though he was only 35 or whatever! We were all these bright young things in our early twenties advancing towards whatever, advancing towards creating a wonderful, new Ireland! Not just for ourselves, but for wider society. You know, full of the innocence and anger of youth I suppose, that’s what it really is.





IZZY KAMIKAZE: I had been involved in some of the early Dublin Prides, and they fizzled out – let’s see, when was the last one? I think 1987. We had a really big one in 1983, right after the Fairview Park march. The Fairview Park march was in March I think, so in June there was still good energy around about that. The anti-amendment campaign was going on at the time. There was lots of allies. Four or five hundred people got out, which in those days was remarkable to get 400 or 500 people. That was like getting 30,000 now. Huge success. But in the subsequent years, because the anti-amendment campaign, for anyone doing social history in Ireland, it was such a divisive, difficult time. People were so worn out by that struggle, which dragged on for years. As I say, the AIDS thing was developing, the gay community lost its community centre in those years. All those things happened and everything kind of fell apart. There were 400 attended that year. I have a picture the following year, there was maybe fifty, which was still pretty ok. The year after that there was maybe thirty. The year after that there was twelve, and serious fucking harassment on the street. The year after that it didn’t happen. So it hadn’t happened for seven years. In 1991, I was also involved in a thing called ACT UP, which was the AIDS Coalition To Unleash Power, a local chapter of that. We did one action a month for thirteen months. Things like going in and occupying offices in the Department of Health and whatever. There was a little crew of us who went out and did these direct-action type of things together. We did some quite nice stuff. Three of the people from that went on to form Dublin Pride. Belfast had a Pride parade – ‘Dander’, they called it. In 1991, their first one, we went up in the back of a van to take part in that as Dublin ACT UP. All the way back we were going, ‘Oh, we have to do a Pride in Dublin next year! We have to do a Pride in Dublin next year!’ That enthusiasm made us do that in 1992.





Another protest in 1992 was held by Irish gays and lesbians who went to New York to protest the exclusion of gays and lesbians from the St Patrick’s Day Parade there by the Ancient Order of Hibernians.





SARAH FRANCIS: But the same year, the first gay float took part in the St Patrick’s Day Parade in Cork. Under a banner that I think said ‘Hello New York’, it was thirty lesbians!





IZZY KAMIKAZE: These things are connected with each other, that’s how it happens. Pride had never stopped happening in Dublin, but there had stopped being a parade. So it had stopped being a public thing really. I think without the parade it doesn’t really count. There still used to be a Pride picnic in Merrion Square; there would be movies and various social events, but there was no public thing. And I think what Pride counts as is a visibility exercise, so that part of it had stopped happening and this little bunch of people – and we were pretty fringe people in the community, we weren’t people that would be regarded as suitable leadership material maybe, which is always the issue! We decided to do that and Pride is a very suitable thing for fringe people to do, because what Pride is about is all of us have a right to be seen. I’m mentioning this now because this comes into the marriage equality thing. Just like decriminalisation: the whole fight for decriminalisation was about presenting a certain kind of picture or a respectable picture of gay people … The decriminalisation thing depended on a particular kind of respectable image of the community being marketed. There was tremendous trouble at times. Very few people were prepared to speak publicly as gay people at that time. But if you did and you didn’t toe the party line, you’d have been pretty much fucking burnt as a witch. I feel it’s not as intense now because a lot more people are out and there basically isn’t the central control anymore. Anybody could say anything. That isn’t quite as strong an issue as it used to be; that nobody got to speak in public about gay rights who wasn’t sort of middle-class, employed, respectably partnered, you know? Scrubbed up well, and who was saying, ‘We’re exactly the same as straight people aside from this one tiny little difference.’





Having failed in the Supreme Court, David Norris had taken his case to the European Court of Human Rights in 1983. Five years later, the court found that Irish law was in breach of the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, with regards to a right respect one’s private life. Norris, supported by the Campaign for Homosexual Law Reform, had won Norris v. Ireland. However, the government failed to act on the ruling until 1993 when the Minister for Justice Máire Geoghegan-Quinn brought through a bill that dealt with equal age of consent and the decriminalisation of male homosexual activity. The bill went through the Oireachtas and on to the President, who now, in an occasion of synchronicity, was Mary Robinson, the woman who had represented Norris as barrister and senior counsel in his European Court of Human Rights case.





STEPHEN COLLINS: Albert Reynolds would have been traditional, middle-of-the-road Catholic. But he wasn’t an ‘anti’; he didn’t have strong views one way or the other. If Fianna Fáil opposed divorce, he would have opposed divorce, but they did that for political tactics. So Albert was Taoiseach and Máire Geoghegan-Quinn was the minister. Now, Máire Geoghegan-Quinn was personally in favour of it, and quite strongly committed to it. The fact that she was the Minister for Justice I think did have an impact.





TONIE WALSH: I think in the early days, lesbians were really generous about fighting that battle when you know they weren’t specifically legally affected by it. But of course they were in a double bind. Most lesbians were invisible in the ’80s actually.





BRENDAN COURTNEY: When homosexuality was decriminalised, I remember my aunt showed me the newspaper cutting. I would have been 18 or 19. Now going back to the age of 14 or 15, I remember I had the Bronski Beat record ‘Age of Consent’ and in Ireland on the back it said ‘illegal’. I remember that the decriminalisation felt very otherworldly to me because, to be honest, I didn’t feel oppressed by it, or that’s what I thought. I was from a liberal background, and not a very religious background, so not your average Irish family. My older cousin was gay, my aunts were gay, and so even though we were quite working class, it wasn’t a big deal … I was bullied in school for being gay, but I always thought that was them and this was me, and I felt I had a protected but probably naive upbringing. As I got older, I realised how judged I was by my sexuality, and how deeply entrenched some of the institutions I still work for were in their homophobia.





BRIAN FINNEGAN: Almost immediately what happened in Dublin after decriminalisation was the scene went from having two tiny pokey little bars to just basically exploding into something that was unheard of in this city. The bars, you used to have to knock on the door, and they’d pull a little thing inside and if you looked gay, they’d let you in – that kind of thing. The Front Lounge opened, the George expanded, Powderbubble, HAM – all of these things started becoming the thing that people were caring about, because they never had it. This idea that we were free and we were visible. So I don’t think people were really thinking about drilling down to the next thing at that stage… I worked in GCN on a FÁS scheme in 1993-94 and decriminalisation was ‘the thing’. That’s what everyone talked about during that time until July ’93 when it was repealed. So after that there was a kind of tailoring off in political activity for about a year. If you look back at GCNs it’s a bit boring; there was nothing, no news, nothing, no political news. And then Gráinne Healy is on the cover of one in about ’95, and I remember that. I remember reading that. It was the first I heard of the idea that we would be striving for marriage equality. There’s a picture of Gráinne on the cover and she’s calling for partnership rights.





Around northern Europe, the idea of partnership rights or relationship recognition was brewing. In 1989, Denmark became the first country in the world to legalise same-sex unions. In 1993, Norway introduced rights for registered partnerships. In 1994, Sweden introduced partnership rights. In 1996, Greenland and Iceland introduced partnership rights. That year, Bill Clinton enacted the Defense of Marriage Act, pre-empting the movement for marriage equality. The Act allowed for individual states to not recognise the potential partnership rights of couples secured in other states. At the time it was a hypothetical. Although a court case was being taken in Hawaii (Baehr v. Lewin) by three same-sex couples who were arguing that the state’s ban on same-sex marriage was against the constitution of the state, it wouldn’t be until 2004, eighteen years after the Defense of Marriage Act, that the first provisions would be made by two US states – New Jersey and Maine – for same-sex partners, the same year that Massachusetts would leap ahead and declare same-sex marriage legal.





KATHERINE O’DONNELL: I was very interested in the legal mechanisms of the marriage movement in Hawaii and how the federation of the United States went to shut that down. I suppose part of where I’ve done activism has been in the East Coast of the US. I lived in Boston for three years and was involved in ACT UP and an Irish lesbian and gay organisation – you know, in small ways – and Queer Nation in Boston. So it was fascinating to me to see the legal arguments used, but also how the people who would have been my mentors – a lot of them would have been academic – felt that this was kind of a ‘Friends of Bill’ movement, that it was a movement for assimilation into a culture and a politic that we were very critical of. Again we had a certain amount of privilege in that most of the people I was hanging out with were Jewish or otherwise white intellectual people with jobs, so while we could experience marginalisation due to being out as lesbians and gays, we also had quite a privileged class position, and I think we really valued the critique we were able to launch from a more marginal position into the centre, and the vantage point it gave us and how power worked in cultures and societies. So the people that I would have been mentored by were suspicious of this movement, and later the whole Don’t Ask Don’t Tell debacle of gays in the military, which was never a mainstream LGBT issue. And I would have been thinking of the marriage movement in that light, arguing for assimilation to an idealised notion of heterosexuality and that in the movement I find it kind of problematic in that I saw a lot of people asking for assimilation on grounds that were not recognising the heritage, culture and specificity of LGBT lives, culture and family formation. So from the very beginning way back then in the early ’90s, I would have been rather critical of that marriage movement.





In 1997, the Netherlands, which would later become the first country in the world to legalise same-sex marriage, introduced partnership rights. And back in Ireland, a key piece of equality legislation, the Employment Equality Act, was progressing.





BORIS DITTRICH, UCC MARRIAGE EQUALITY CONFERENCE, 28 MARCH 2014: My political party asked me to run for national parliament and at that time in the Netherlands there was no registered partnership, there was no same-sex marriage. I was an openly gay man and when I was asked to run for parliament in 1993, several people I talked to said, ‘Well, you know, the country is not ready yet for an openly gay member of parliament, so don’t emphasise your lifestyle and your personal life.’ I always thought that was really crazy. I mean, how can you ask somebody to be a people’s representative if he cannot represent himself? So it irritated me so much that during the election campaign I started to talk about LGBT rights and I talked about civil unions and Scandinavia, where registered partnerships could take place, and we didn’t have them in the Netherlands. Because I was so visible in the campaign talking about these issues, a lot of journalists started to ask me, ‘What else do you want to achieve for the LGBT community?’ And I thought, well, I really need to have something we can really work on, and something very important, something clear, something a lot of people would find interesting. And so, after some conversations with a lot of people, I said, ‘Well, actually, I want to introduce marriage equality to the Netherlands.’ At the time, because [there was] nowhere in the world same-sex couples could get married, this was a really far-fetched idea. I had a lot of opponents – [including] surprisingly enough, the LGBT movement in the Netherlands. The board consisted of some older people and they came to parliament and said, ‘What are you doing? You are reinforcing this old-fashioned institution of marriage with new blood. We actually want to get rid of marriage as an institution and now you are trying to reinforce it. So we are against.’ Of course, that didn’t really strengthen my position in parliament because if the LGBT movement is vocally against your proposal, it doesn’t really lead to anything. So at the same time, there were some members of parliament, members of the government, who said, ‘Well, maybe legally you might be right that it’s feasible to introduce marriage equality, but why don’t we just take this registered partnerships, civil unions like they have in Scandinavia, and let’s do that?’ In the back of their minds it was: once the gays have that, they will stop talking about marriage equality. Fortunately it didn’t happen that way. Because we talked about marriage equality, the whole idea of civil unions or a registered partnership was something very boring and nobody really discussed that, so it was actually fairly easy in 1998 to introduce the act of registered partnership, and it’s open for same-sex couples and different sex couples, but it was not really very popular because the whole debate was about marriage equality … I introduced a motion, a resolution in parliament, which was adopted by the majority, asking for the government to introduce legislation on marriage equality. And then the prime minister said to me, ‘Although we have a majority in parliament, we cannot do that, because nowhere in the world same-sex couples can get married and people will really mark us. They will laugh at us, because the Netherlands is known for its coffee shops where you can smoke pot, marijuana, and now you come with same-sex marriage. No, this is not good for our reputation.’ So although we had a majority in parliament, our own government and my political party, in spite of the government, they didn’t want to introduce this legislation. We had elections afterwards and in 1998 I became the leader of our negotiations team, and two other political parties because we were going to form a coalition government, they really wanted us to be there, to be part of the new government. And so, I had a very good, strong position, and I said, ok, we’ll join the new government if we will get euthanasia, if we will get same-sex marriage, and some other issues. And although they informally supported and actually didn’t really care about same-sex marriage, they said, ‘Ok, if that’s what you want, you can get it.’ And so actually it was relatively easy in 1998 to convince the government to start the law process, the legal process. However, in government there were a lot of people who said because marriage equality doesn’t exist in the world, it’s probably legally very difficult. So first the government installed a State committee, and the State committee had to see if it was legally possible for two men or two women to get married. The outcome of that committee took one year to study, it was exactly what we had always said: yes, it’s possible, it’s a political choice. Because it was in our coalition contract, it was actually very smooth, the whole process, and people started to get married on 1 April 2001.





It’s hard to pinpoint when legal relationship recognition for gays and lesbians emerged as a pertinent conversation. In fact, for many gays and lesbians, because marriage was so unavailable, critiques were developed about the institution itself, and alternative relationship structures that would be less conformist, less heteronormative and less patriarchal were moulded by gays simply getting on with their lives. While European nations were the first to introduce partnership rights for lesbian and gay couples, the more branded marriage equality movement that emerged later was influenced by activism in the US.





TONIE WALSH: I’m 53. I’m of a generation not just of gay activists, but of a generation that just grew up with this idea that actually, as sexual outlaws, the type of relationships we wanted were there to be claimed in whatever form we wanted. Whether we wanted to live with three partners, whether we wanted to be serially monogamous, whether we wanted a multiplicity of partners in all sorts of domestic or non-domestic arrangements – that was all there to be claimed. It’s dreadful trying to sort of revisit the past actually and not be revisionist, sort of tiptoe around one’s memory of the past, but I imagine that actually, most of us weren’t particularly interested in marriage. The reason we weren’t interested in marriage was deep down we imagined it was unattainable and maybe that’s indicative of how simply oppressive and repressive society was that just simply nobody could actually imagine that. There was such an enormous societal shift required that it seemed insurmountable. As a result of it being insurmountable, we just simply didn’t care about it. We just got on with the business of going, ‘Ok, let’s see what all the other options available are.’





GRÁINNE HEALY: The first couple I met who were married was a couple from the Netherlands, and I suppose I was surprised then because I was thinking, ‘Oh, two women getting married, I’m not sure about that, I have a whole lot of issues about marriage.’ I remember meeting that lesbian couple from the Netherlands and it started me thinking about not being too sure about marriage – feminist views of marriage, very critical of marriage. And then I suppose I started to develop from there on.





IZZY KAMIKAZE: I do remember very early on, about 1984, Irish people didn’t travel – they emigrated. People would disappear and you’d never see them again, but otherwise you were here. One of the first women I met when I came out – she was maybe ten years older than me – fell in love with a passing American and went to America with her. The next thing was, people started getting letters and postcards from her, and they had got married in the Metropolitan Community Church. And that was the first person I had ever heard of, a gay person, getting married. There was probably an element of amusement about it more than anything else, but I mean, we were all very happy for her. It was definitely a good thing for them personally, but was it something we felt we had to go out and campaign for in the streets to be able to do? No. You’re also talking about the early ’80s in Ireland, which was very much the spirit of the ’70s in terms of what was happening anywhere else. Marriage was on the decline for straight people as well. The kind of straight people that I mixed with – left-wing activists, feminist activists – most of them didn’t get married. They cohabited and stuff. They serially cohabited! But they didn’t get married. Most of the children I knew were born outside of marriages, whether they were born to straight people or gay people. In that particular era – it wasn’t called polyamory in those days – but a lot of people were experimenting with non-monogamy, non-traditional sorts of relationships, gay and straight people. And the notion that gay people would be out in the streets demanding the right to marry would have seemed ludicrous, I think. So was anybody talking about that? No.





COLM O’GORMAN: The first time I became aware of it was when I was living in the UK. I lived in the UK from ’86 to 2003 and I can remember when Ken Livingstone, as Mayor of London, brought in a form of ceremony as opposed to any kind of recognition whereby people could go along to City Hall and have an event where they in some form, I suppose, solemnised their relationship, because civil partnership wasn’t even on the books then. And two friends of mine – two women I had known for years – did that … I always wanted to get married. Paul asked me to marry him two weeks after we met. He loves reminding me of that! I also said yes two weeks after we met. At that time, there was no possibility of that happening. We met in 1999.
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